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To: Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED)[Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov]
From: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=2c2e07bf883b4488800e4ff3ae7188ab-Lamas, Enri]
Sent: Tue 8/4/2020 2:04:47 PM (UTC)
Subject: Fw: The Honorable Steven Dillingham, Director, U.S. Census Bureau
2020-08-04.CBM to Dillingham re Transcribed Interviews.pdf

Enrique Lamas
Senior Advisor
Director's Office
U.S. Census Bureau
Office:  301-763-3811

From: Goss, Trinity <Trinity.Goss@mail.house.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, August 4, 2020 9:54 AM
To: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED) 
<Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov>; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov>; John Maron Abowd 
(CENSUS/ADRM FED) <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; 'AKorzeniewski@doc.gov' <AKorzeniewski@doc.gov>; Adam Michael 
Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>; 'NCogley@doc.gov' <NCogley@doc.gov>; Nathaniel 
Cogley (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <nathaniel.cogley@census.gov>; Christopher J Stanley (CENSUS/OCIA FED) 
<christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>; Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov>; Christopher J Stanley 
(CENSUS/OCIA FED) <christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>
Cc: Kim, Janet <Janet.Kim@mail.house.gov>; Anderson, Tori <Tori.Anderson@mail.house.gov>; Whitcomb, Max 
<Max.Whitcomb@mail.house.gov>; LaNier, Elisa <Elisa.LaNier@mail.house.gov>; Jones, Taylor <Taylor.Jones@mail.house.gov>; 
MacPherson, Cameron <Cameron.MacPherson@mail.house.gov>; Bush, Anthony <Anthony.Bush@mail.house.gov>
Subject: The Honorable Steven Dillingham, Director, U.S. Census Bureau
 

Hello---
 
Please see the letter from Chairwoman Carolyn B. Maloney, Committee on Oversight and Reform, to The Honorable Steven 
Dillingham, Director, U.S. Census Bureau.
 
Please acknowledge receipt of letter.
 
Thank you,
 
Trinity Goss
 
Trinity M. E. Goss | Executive Team Coordinator
Chairwoman Carolyn B. Maloney, Committee on Oversight and Reform
Trinity.Goss@mail.house.gov | (202) 225 5051
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Status of Data Acquisition and Options for Estimating the Illegal Population 
Enumerated in the 2020 Census 

August 10, 2020

Status of Data Acquisition to Support the Presidential Memorandum 
Presidential Memorandum work will build on data available and acquired over the past 
8 months to support Executive Order 13880 to create Citizen Voting Age Population 
(CVAP) estimate of citizen/non-citizens. 

Available CVAP data sources are from the Department of Homeland Security o
(DHS), the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Social 
Security Administration (SSA), State Department, Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (CMS), Bureau of Prisons, U.S. Marshals, Bureau of Justice 
Statistics, Internal Revenue Services (IRS), Department of Interior (DOI) and 
Indian Health Services (IHS). 

Data identified as required to determine legal status: 
Available Data: DOI data provided to support the CVAP work.o
Additional data to be acquired: Department of Homeland Security:o

USCIS data to include declined applications for Lawful Permanent 
Resident, DACA and Student Immigrant Juveniles data
ICE data to include Enforcement and Removal Operations data.

Additional data form USCIS and ICE are targeted for an August 31, 2020 delivery o
to the Census Bureau.

MOU Status: modifications are in draft to acquire/and or authorize existing data for the 
project: 

Acquisition of new data: Applies to ICE and CIS to directly support o
determination of documented/undocumented.  Draft MOU’s to acquire the 
data and authorize the additional use were reviewed by both ICE and CIS prior 
to Census Bureau Legal review.  

Both MOU’s have cleared Census Legal and are now in the signature 
process.

Authority to use existing data to determine documentation status:  Applies to o
DOI data already acquired for CVAP. 

 MOU is in Census Legal review.
Authority to add the new work as an authorized use to the CVAP citizen/non-o
citizen work:  Applies to data acquired/available for CVAP to estimate non-
citizenship but not directly inform of documented/undocumented.

MOUs in Census Legal review for DHS Customs and Border Protection, 
State Department, HUD, SSA, CMS, IRS, IHS, U.S. Marshalls, Bureau of 
Justice Statistics and Bureau of Prisons.
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1 Note that this method assume a match and a definitive determination of status from the records. If we were 
instructed to determine status for the unmatched population using, for example, a hot deck methodology or 
statistical modeling, this would add additional days.
2 Note that we plan to use production level matching to the Person Identification Validation System (PVS).  The PVS 
will link people with social security numbers or individually taxpayer identification numbers (ITINs)  The 
Experimental PVS (EPVS), developed for the Citizen Voting Age Population data, is not ready for production use. 
This EPVS potentially links additional admininistrative records to the 2020 Census by using PII found on DHS and 
State Department records. This EPVS is suitable for use in an experimental product but has not received either the 
internal or external peer review associated with apportionment. 

 Options for Estimating the Illegal Population Enumerated in the 2020 Census

Tabulate the People Enumerated in the 2020 Census who were in ICE Detention Centers as of 1.
April 1, 2020

Prosa.
This is an actual enumeration.i.
Could meet the existing statutory, judicial and regulatory standards established ii.
for the resident population definition used in apportionment.

Can complete this by December 31iii.
We can get a list of the centers from ICE and verify that we enumerated iv.

them in the Group Quarters operation
Consb.

Need to assume that either all prisoners living in the detention centers are here i.
illegally or some proportion are here illegally (we can ask ICE for data on this)
Some centers are part of county jails, we may not have enough information in ii.
what we collected to distinguish prisoners in the county jail from those in the 
detention center

This is the lower end of the actual number of illegal people enumerated iii.
in the 2020 census

Match Administrative Records to the 2020 Census (Need 43 days from when the Census 2.
Unedited File (CUF) is complete for this option)1 2

Prosa.
Will be able to match various admin records to people enumerated in the 2020 i.
Census 
Could meet the existing statutory, judicial and regulatory standards established ii.
for the resident population definition used in apportionment

This option will match to a larger number of illegal immigrants than iii.
option 1 because we will also include the people identified in option 1.

Consb.
The number of illegal immigrants in both admin records and the 2020 census is i.
likely to be low.
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Based on the 2010 Census, we expect about 10 percent of decennial records to ii.
not match an admin record. Many of the unmatched are U.S. citizens or legal 
immigrants who did not provide enough personally identifiable information to 
match.

Use an Aggregate Residual Method to Estimate the Number of Illegal Immigrants by State who 3.
were Enumerated in the 2020 Census This method begins with an estimate of the foreign-born 
population from the American Community Survey (ACS).

Prosa.
Can finish this by December 31, 2020 (if we start now).i.
We have access to many administrative data sets at the Census Bureau that ii.
other organizations who do this type of estimate do not (ACS, mortality data,…)

Consb.
This method will be based on the ACS which is based on a sample.i.
We would need to make several adjustments to the foreign-born population ii.
that are based on limited data. This includes estimating how many illegal 
immigrants we think we enumerated in the 2020 Census based on coverage 
measurement samples.

These numbers have limited precision, thousands or tens of thousands iii.
at best, and have a range of uncertainty around them.
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Procedures for Identifying and 
Tabulating Unauthorized 
Immigrants as Defined in the 
Presidential Memorandum 

1

Briefing 
August 24, 2020
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GEO Processing to meet 12/14/2020 CUF Delivery

2020 2021
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Original Plan
Field Operations end 7/31
Update the MAF 102 end 8/13
Lock to Benchmark 15 end 8/28
Create Products 18 end 9/15

Original Plan with 9/30 Field Ops end date
Field Operations end 9/31
Update the MAF 102 end 10/13
Lock to Benchmark 15 end 10/28
Create Products 18 end 11/15

Current Plan
Field Operations end 9/31 no adds afte
Update the MAF 29 end 9/24
Lock to Benchmark 4 end 9/28
Create Products 16 end 10/14

Shading represents end of field operations
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NYT story on deadlines 

Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) <ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>
Tue 2020-07-28 8:36 AM

To:  Steven Dillingham (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <steven.dillingham@census.gov>; Michael John Sprung 
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <michael.j.sprung@census.gov>; Steven K Smith (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<steven.k.smith@census.gov>; Nathaniel Cogley (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <nathaniel.cogley@census.gov>; Adam 
Michael Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>

New Census Worry: An Expedited Count Could Mean an Inaccurate One
The New York Times – Michael Wines, July 28 

Stalled by the pandemic, the count is supposed to resume soon. But census experts are raƩled by signs 
of a push from the White House to ��nish it early.

As the 2020 census struggles to ��nd its fooƟng amid the coronavirus outbreak and public reluctance to 
give the government personal data, officials have a new worry: The Trump administraƟon and Senate 
Republicans appear to be signaling that they want the census ��nished well ahead of schedule, 
pandemic or not.

With almost 40 percent of the naƟon’s households sƟll uncounted, including the hardest­to­reach 
populaƟons that are disproporƟonately poor, people of color and young, the Trump administraƟon 
took the Census Bureau by surprise last week. It asked the Senate AppropriaƟons CommiƩee to set 
aside $448 million in the next coronavirus relief package for a “Ɵmely” compleƟon of the census.

The request did not de��ne what “Ɵmely” meant, and legislaƟon released on Monday said only that 
the money would be used for naƟonwide census operaƟons and data processing. But it comes as 
census workers and former officials say the White House and the Commerce Department, which 
oversees the Census Bureau, are asking how the bureau can compress its schedule to wrap up the 
count of households earlier than expected — perhaps by the end of September. The aim, they say, 
may be to speed up the delivery of key data for poliƟcal reapporƟonment to the president by the end 
of December.

The administraƟon has yet to announce a compressed schedule and may not ��nd a way to do so. But 
the prospect already has alarmed an array of experts, who warned in recent days that an expedited 
census risks a deeply ��awed count of the naƟon’s populaƟon. The census is consƟtuƟonally required 
to count all residents of the country every 10 years.

“There’s a lot of uncertainty, but one thing is absolutely sure: There will be egregious undercounts if 
the Census Bureau has to produce this data by December,” said Robert Santos, the vice president of 
the Urban InsƟtute and the incoming president of the American StaƟsƟcal AssociaƟon.

Some, including former Census Bureau directors, raised the prospect that the ��nal totals could be so 
skewed that a future Congress might order the bureau to do further work on the 2020 populaƟon 
data, or even consider another census in ��ve years, which federal law allows but which has never been 
conducted naƟonwide.

The numbers are enormously important. They are used to reapporƟon all 435 House seats and 
thousands of state and local districts, as well as divvy up trillions of dollars in federal grants and aid.
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At issue is how fast, and how precisely, the Census Bureau will track down and count the 60 million 
households that have not ��lled out census forms.

Slightly more than six in 10 households have completed forms. The remainder are the very hardest to 
count. To reach them, the bureau has planned to deploy up to 500,000 census takers, each with an 
iPhone that can securely relay census data to the bureau’s computers.

In 2010, census takers worked from May to August to count hard­to­��nd households. This spring, with 
the start of that count delayed by the pandemic, the bureau said it was pushing back the start of that 
work to August, ending on Oct. 31.

With White House approval, the bureau also asked Congress for a four­month extension — to April 
2021 — of the Dec. 31 statutory deadline for delivering to the president the populaƟon totals required 
to reapporƟon the House of RepresentaƟves.

But that plan now appears to be in ��ux. Census Bureau workers have been asked whether that Oct. 
31deadline for collecƟng data can be moved to September, giving them six or seven weeks to ��nish a 
count that was supposed to take 10 weeks.

At the same Ɵme, the administraƟon’s commitment to extending the delivery of reapporƟonment 
staƟsƟcs beyond the statutory Dec. 31 deadline also appears in doubt.

In Congress, the House has approved the four­month delay. The Senate has not. Asked on Saturday 
whether Senator Mitch McConnell, the majority leader, sƟll supports extending the deadline, a 
spokesman for the senator said in an email: “Don’t think I’m going to be able to help you out on this.”

The White House declined to address quesƟons about its census plans. Responding to a reporter’s 
quesƟons, the Census Bureau issued a statement on Monday that neither con��rmed nor denied an 
effort to hasten the compleƟon of the count and the delivery of reapporƟonment ��gures.

“The Census Bureau is working toward the plan to complete ��eld data collecƟon by October 31,” it 
said. It then added that its staff would “conƟnue to evaluate and plan for all conƟngencies, including 
the impact of delivering statutorily required data products at the current legislaƟve deadlines” — a 
reference to the Dec. 31 date to produce reapporƟonment ��gures.

In fact, top Census Bureau officials already have said that meeƟng that deadline is impossible.

“We have passed the point where we could even meet the current legislaƟve requirement 
of December 31.We can’t do that anymore,” the census official leading ��eld operaƟons for the count, 
Tim Olson, told a NaƟve American organizaƟon during a webinar in May.

And in a webinar this month for groups with a stake in census results, the associate director of the 
census, Albert E. Fontenot Jr. said, “we are past the window of being able to get those counts” by 
year’s end.

The new concerns come atop a growing record of poliƟcal interference in census decisions by the 
Trump administraƟon.

The Supreme Court last year, in a 5­4 vote, rejected the administraƟon’s effort to add a ciƟzenship 
quesƟon to the census that experts said would surely depress the count of immigrants and minoriƟes, 
documented and otherwise.
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On White House orders, the Census Bureau last month created two top­level posiƟons and ��lled them 
with poliƟcal appointees from outside, a remarkable move in an agency renowned for its nonparƟsan 
culture.

Some criƟcs say Mr  Trump’s order last week to exclude undocumented immigrants from state­by­state 
populaƟon totals used for reapporƟonment totals explains the administraƟon’s apparent desire to 
speed up census work.

The order, which is already being challenged in court, is widely viewed as unconsƟtuƟonal by legal 
scholars. But for the order to have any chance of succeeding, they say, the census totals used for 
reapporƟonment must be delivered to Mr. Trump while he is sƟll in office — as he almost certainly will 
be on Dec. 31, but may well not be in April 2021.

“I think it’s enƟrely about that,” Thomas A. Saenz, the president of the Mexican American Legal 
Defense and EducaƟonal Fund, said on Monday. “He wants to exclude undocumented immigrants 
because he believes it will shiŌ representaƟon away from blue states to red states. In the end, it’s 
enƟrely about trying to stem LaƟno poliƟcal power.”

Others say Mr. Trump’s order, regardless of whether it is upheld, could have an impact on 
representaƟon by making nonciƟzens worry that their answers on a census survey could be used 
against them.

“They clearly have an agenda for not counƟng undocumented immigrants in the apporƟonment 
count,” said Vanita Gupta, the president of the Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights, a 
coaliƟon of more than 200 advocacy groups. “I think the administraƟon knows their order isn’t going 
to be consƟtuƟonal. Maybe through fear of it, they’re trying to get to the same place.”

Experts said a rush to wrap up the census would force the bureau into shortcuts that would make 
populaƟon totals signi��cantly less accurate. Months of post­census analysis and accuracy checks also 
would be at risk were populaƟon totals required by December.

“It won’t be ��nished unless they can quickly ramp up something, like using administraƟve records” 
instead of census takers to count households, said Kenneth PrewiƩ, a Columbia University public 
affairs professor who led the Census Bureau during the 2000 census. “Otherwise, you end up with a 
census that’s 10 percent uncounted, or 12 percent.”

Mr. PrewiƩ and John Thompson, a career Census Bureau official who directed the agency from 2013 to 
2017, said the bureau also could be forced to expand its use of a staƟsƟcal method called imputaƟon, 
in which an algorithm makes an educated guess about who lives in a household by looking at who lives 
nearby.

Past censuses have relied on imputaƟon for a Ɵny fracƟon of households — about 1 percent, in most 
cases — that could not be otherwise counted. But “it could get a lot bigger, maybe 10 or 15 percent in 
some areas of the country, if they have to cut it short,” Mr. Thompson said.

If past censuses are any indicaƟon, the Census Bureau will state clearly where it believes inaccuracies 
lie, and how large they might be. AŌer the count, the bureau conducts a massive accuracy check, 
called a post­enumeraƟon survey, in which experts revisit a sample of households to see whether 
reported data was correct.
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But while the bureau will say how inaccurate its numbers are, it will not, in all likelihood, say whether 
it believes they can be relied on.

“What it means to fail to have a census has never been tested,” said JusƟn LeviƩ, an expert on the 
topic at Loyola Law School in Los Angeles. “How bad it has to be before it’s not a census anymore is 
something we have yet to decide.”

Should it come to that, he said, that judgment would probably be hashed out in Congress — and later 
in the courts.

    

The information, and any attachments contained in this email may contain confidential and/or privileged information and is intended solely 

for the use of the intended named recipient(s). Any disclosure or dissemination in whatever form, by another other than the intended 

recipient is strictly prohibited  If you have received this transmission in error, please contact the sender and destroy this message and any 

attachments. Thank you.

BC-DOC-CEN-2020-001602-004631



Re: Please extend census deadline

Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) <ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>
Sat 2020-08-01 10:52 AM

To:  Steven Dillingham (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <steven.dillingham@census.gov>

I am working on that now- something we can possibly send back to these emails and tweet 
and send to reporters today to set us up to announce. I will call you shortly per your other 
communication. 

On Aug 1, 2020, at 7:48 AM, Steven Dillingham (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<steven.dillingham@census.gov> wrote:

 I assume we will have a short well crafted response that can be used for all such 
communications. Many thanks!

Sent from my iPhone

On Jul 31, 2020, at 5:03 PM, Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) 
<ali.m.ahmad@census.gov> wrote:

Thank you for forwarding. I am going to come up with a short 
response for us to consider pushing back with even before we have 
a final plan. 

On Jul 31, 2020, at 4:55 PM, Steven Dillingham 
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<steven.dillingham@census.gov> wrote:

evidence that the email campaign may be beginning

From: Joanna Kim >
Sent: Friday, July 31, 2020 3:56 PM
To: Steven Dillingham (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<steven.dillingham@census.gov>
Subject: Please extend census deadline

Dear Director Dillingham,
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Please support the request for extended census deadlines 
and additional funding for completing counting. I 
encourage you to work with Congress in acknowledging 
the importance of an accurate count and to not undermine 
these efforts with a quick or botched count.

As you know full well, the Census has a widespread impact on 
every sector of American life, from political representation to 
business development to federal funding for schools to 
disaster relief. You know firsthand how important complete 
results are to every community in our nation. 

While I can appreciate the extraordinary times we are living in, 
we cannot compromise on the need to conduct a full and 
accurate census. Particularly in the wake of a pandemic, it is 
more important than ever. Since as early as April, Census 
Bureau experts consistently expressed their concerns about 
being able to complete the counting without the extension. 

Additionally, by cutting in-person interviews short on 
September 30, 2020, a month early, you are impacting every 
person living in the United States, and how we will live for the 
next 10 years. 

I respectfully ask that you reflect on your power in the 
decisions at hand and your direct responsibility for the funding 
or lack of funding for much-needed programs and services.

Sincerely,
Joanna Kim
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To: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[Enrique.Lamas@census.gov]; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC 
FED)[Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov]; Adam Michael Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov]; 
Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED)[Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov]; Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR 
FED)[Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov]; John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED)[john.maron.abowd@census.gov]; Victoria Velkoff 
(CENSUS/ADDP FED)[Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov]; Nathaniel Cogley (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[nathaniel.cogley@census.gov]
Cc: Christopher J Stanley  (CENSUS/OCIA FED)[christopher.j.stanley@census.gov]; Brebbia, Sean 
(Federal)[SBrebbia@doc.gov]
From: Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED)[/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=9F924D2AEBA34BB78774A059DDE7550C-AHMAD, ALI]
Sent: Wed 8/12/2020 7:02:31 PM (UTC)
Subject: TI Update- Reply from Chair Maloney
2020-08-12.CBM to Dillingham-Census re TIs.pdf

The attached requests a reply by 8/14 before the Committee considers the compulsory process. We will provide a 
response strategy update to yesterday's call ASAP. 

Ali Ahmad, Associate Director 
Communications Directorate
U.S. Census Bureau
O: 301-763-8789| M: 
Ali.M.Ahmad@census.gov
census.gov  |  @uscensusbureau
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August 4, 2020 
 
The Honorable Steven Dillingham 
Director 
U.S. Census Bureau 
4600 Silver Hill Rd 
Suitland-Silver Hill, MD 20746 
 
Dear Director Dillingham: 
 

In light of alarming news about additional efforts to rush and politicize the 2020 Census, 
the Committee on Oversight and Reform requests the appearance of Census Bureau employees 
for transcribed interviews. 

 
Last night, you issued a statement that the Census Bureau will be ending Non-Response 

Follow-Up (NRFU) and online responses on September 30, 2020—a full month earlier than 
previously announced.1  You did not mention this change during your testimony last week before 
the Committee.  This move will rush the enumeration process, result in inadequate follow-up, 
and undercount immigrant communities and communities of color who are historically 
undercounted.  As Former Director John Thompson testified to the Committee: 

 
The career people who are experts at taking the census requested a four month extension 
of the deadlines that’s in their Title.  They know what they are doing.  They know what 
it’s going to take to get the census done.  Not extending those deadlines is going to put 
tremendous pressure on the Census Bureau.  It’s not clear what kind of quality counts 
they can produce if they don’t get the extension.  So it could be a really big problem.2 
 
Senior career staff at the Census Bureau have publicly stated that meeting the statutory 

deadlines is impossible because of the delays that have already occurred.  On July 8, 2020, Al 
Fontenot, Associate Director for Decennial Census Programs, stated of the December 31, 2020, 
statutory deadlines:  “We are past the window of being able to get those counts by those dates at 

 
1 U.S. Census Bureau, Statement from U.S. Census Bureau Director Steven Dillingham:  Delivering a 

Complete and Accurate 2020 Census Count (Aug. 3, 2020) (online at www.census.gov/newsroom/press-
releases/2020/delivering-complete-accurate-count html). 

2 Oversight Committee Held Emergency Hearing on Trump Administration’s Unconstitutional 
Politicization of 2020 Census (July 29, 2020) (online at https://oversight.house.gov/news/press-releases/oversight-
committee-held-emergency-hearing-on-trump-administration-s). 
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The Honorable Steven Dillingham 
Page 2 
 
this point.” 3  On May 26, 2020, Tim Olson, Associate Director for Field Operations, said 
publicly:  “We have passed the point where we could even meet the current legislative 
requirement of December 31.  We can’t do that anymore.” 4   
 

Testimony on July 29, 2020, during the Committee’s emergency hearing underscored the 
Committee’s concerns about the administration of the 2020 Census.  Four former Directors of 
the Census Bureau testified that the President’s memorandum issued on July 21, 2020, directing 
the Secretary of Commerce to exclude undocumented immigrants from the apportionment count, 
is unconstitutional. 
 

In addition, your testimony at that hearing revealed new and troubling information about 
the White House’s inappropriate partisan influence over how the 2020 Census is conducted.  For 
example, when you were asked whether you or anyone else at the Census Bureau contributed to 
the President’s July 21, 2020, legal memorandum or provided any input on it before it was 
released, you responded, “Madam Chairwoman, I certainly did not, and I’m not aware of others 
in the Census Bureau that did.”5  When you were asked when you first became aware of the 
President’s intention to exclude undocumented immigrants from the Apportionment count, you 
responded, “As I recall, someone from the press reported that a directive may be coming down.”6  
 
 For the foregoing reasons, the Committee requests that Census Bureau officials appear 
for virtual transcribed interviews on the following dates: 
 

*  August 10, 2020:  Enrique Lamas, Chief Advisor to the Deputy Director;  
*  August 11, 2020:  Timothy P. Olson, Associate Director for Field Operations; 
*  August 12, 2020:  Victoria Velkoff, Associate Director for Demographic 

Programs; 
*  August 14, 2020:  Albert Fontenot, Jr, Associate Director for Decennial Census 

Programs; 
*  August 17, 2020:  John Abowd, Chief Scientist and Associate Director for 

Research and Methodology; 
*  August 19, 2020:  Adam Korzeniewski, Assistant Deputy Director for Policy;  
*  August 20, 2020:  Nathaniel Cogley, Deputy Director for Policy; and 
*  August 21, 2020:  Ron S. Jarmin, Deputy Director and Chief Operating Officer. 

 
 

3 Republicans Signal They’re Willing To Cut The Census Counting Short, National Public Radio (July 28, 
2020) (online at www.npr.org/2020/07/28/895744449/republicans-signal-theyre-willing-to-cut-short-census-
counting). 

4 ‘We’re Running Out of Time’:  Census Turns to Congress to Push Deadlines, National Public Radio (May 
27, 2020) (online at www.npr.org/sections/coronavirus-live-updates/2020/05/27/863290458/we-re-running-out-of-
time-census-turns-to-congress-to-push-deadlines). 

5 Committee on Oversight and Reform, Counting Every Person:  Safeguarding the 2020 Census Against 
the Trump Administration’s Unconstitutional Attacks (July 29, 2020) (online at 
https://oversight.house.gov/legislation/hearings/counting-every-person-safeguarding-the-2020-census-against-the-
trump). 

6 Id. 
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The Committee on Oversight and Reform is the principal oversight committee of the 
House of Representatives and has broad authority to investigate “any matter” at “any time” under 
House Rule X.  In addition, the Committee has jurisdiction over “Population and demography 
generally, including the Census.”7 

Please confirm whether the requested witnesses will appear voluntarily by August 7, 
2020.  If you have any questions regarding this request, please contact Committee staff at (202) 
225-5051.

Sincerely, 

____________________________ 
Carolyn B. Maloney 
Chairwoman 

cc: The Honorable James R. Comer, Ranking Member 

7 House rule X, clause 1(n)(8). 
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To: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[Enrique.Lamas@census.gov]; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO 
FED)[Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov]; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED)[Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov]; John Maron Abowd 
(CENSUS/ADRM FED)[john.maron.abowd@census.gov]; 'AKorzeniewski@doc.gov'[AKorzeniewski@doc.gov]; Adam Michael 
Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov]; 'NCogley@doc.gov'[NCogley@doc.gov]; Nathaniel Cogley 
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[nathaniel.cogley@census.gov]; Christopher J Stanley  (CENSUS/OCIA 
FED)[christopher.j.stanley@census.gov]; Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov]; Christopher J Stanley  
(CENSUS/OCIA FED)[christopher.j.stanley@census.gov]
Cc: Kim, Janet[Janet.Kim@mail.house.gov]; Anderson, Tori[Tori.Anderson@mail.house.gov]; Whitcomb, 
Max[Max.Whitcomb@mail.house.gov]; LaNier, Elisa[Elisa.LaNier@mail.house.gov]; Jones, Taylor[Taylor.Jones@mail.house.gov]; 
MacPherson, Cameron[Cameron.MacPherson@mail.house.gov]; Bush, Anthony[Anthony.Bush@mail.house.gov]
From: Goss, Trinity[Trinity.Goss@mail.house.gov]
Sent: Tue 8/4/2020 1:54:26 PM (UTC)
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
Trinity.Goss@mail.house.gov | (202) 225-5051
 

BC-DOC-CEN-2020-001602-004649



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 12, 2020 
 
The Honorable Dr. Steven Dillingham  
Director 
United States Census Bureau 
4600 Silver Hill Road 
Washington, D.C.  20233 
 
Dear Dr. Dillingham:  

 
 On August 4, 2020, the Committee requested the voluntary appearance of eight senior 
Census Bureau officials for transcribed interviews regarding the Trump Administration’s recent 
efforts to rush the 2020 Census after previously requesting legislation to delay deadlines for 
operations and reporting due to the coronavirus pandemic.1   
 

On August 7, 2020, you responded by declining to make a single official available for a 
transcribed interview.2  In that letter, and in subsequent conversations with staff, the Census 
Bureau has provided inadequate justifications for declining to make these individuals available to 
the Committee. 
 

The 2020 Decennial Census is the largest and most complex in history.  You have 
testified under oath that the Census Bureau has undertaken a decade of field-tested preparation to 
ensure an accurate and complete count,3 but that the coronavirus pandemic has added 
“unprecedented” operational difficulties to the Census Bureau’s mission.4   

 
 

 
1 Letter from Chairwoman Carolyn B. Maloney, Committee on Oversight and Reform, to Dr. Steven 

Dillingham, Director, U.S. Census Bureau (Aug. 4, 2020) (online at 
https://oversight.house.gov/sites/democrats.oversight house.gov/files/2020-08-
04.CBM%20to%20Dillingham%20re%20Transcribed%20Interviews.pdf). 

2 Letter from Dr. Steven Dillingham, Director, U.S. Census Bureau, to Chairwoman Carolyn B. Maloney, 
Committee on Oversight and Reform (Aug. 7, 2020) (online at 
https://oversight.house.gov/sites/democrats.oversight.house.gov/files/documents/Response%20to%20Chairwoman%
20Maloney%20Aug%208%202020.pdf). 

3 Committee on Oversight and Reform, Hearing with Census Bureau Director, Dr. Steven Dillingham (Feb. 
12, 2020) (online at www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-116hhrg39929/pdf/CHRG-116hhrg39929.pdf). 

4 Committee on Oversight and Reform, Hearing on Counting Every Person:  Safeguarding the 2020 
Census Against the Trump Administration’s Unconstitutional Attacks (July 29, 2020). 
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On April 13, 2020, you and Commerce Secretary Wilbur Ross warned that extensions to 
various statutory deadlines were necessary “to ensure the completeness and accuracy of the 2020 
census.” 5  That same day, Secretary Ross informed several Members of Congress, including me, 
that the Trump Administration was planning to push the deadline for field operations from July 
21, 2020, to October 31, 2020.  He also sought legislation to extend the statutory deadline to 
deliver apportionment data to the President from December 31, 2020, to April 30, 2021, and an 
extension in the statutory deadline to deliver redistricting data to the states from March 30, 2021, 
to July 31, 2021. 

 
Subsequent statements by Census Bureau officials underscored the urgency of these 

legislative changes.  On May 26, 2020, Tim Olson, Associate Director for Field Operations, said 
publicly:  “We have passed the point where we could even meet the current legislative 
requirement of December 31.  We can’t do that anymore.”6 

 
The Committee has worked in good faith to accommodate the Trump Administration’s 

request.  On April 18, 2020, the Census Bureau provided proposed legislative language for 
securing the statutory extensions.  The Committee included extension provisions in the HEROES 
Act (H.R. 6800), which the House of Representatives passed on May 15, 2020. 

 
In a stark reversal, on August 3, 2020, you announced that the Census Bureau will cut 

short follow-up operations by a full month, despite significant delays in starting follow-up 
operations because of the coronavirus pandemic.  You also announced that, with respect to the 
reporting requirement, the Census Bureau would aim to meet “our statutory deadline of 
December 31, 2020, as required by law and directed by the Secretary of Commerce.”7  These 
reversals were announced after President Trump installed two additional political appointees at 
the Census Bureau—for a total of six political appointees, which is more than the Census Bureau 
has had in decades.8 

 
At the same time, the Trump Administration has proposed significant changes to the 

Census Bureau’s methodology and field operations.  On July 21, 2020, President Trump issued a 
memorandum ordering the Secretary of Commerce to provide information that would allow him 
to exclude undocumented immigrants from the apportionment count.  At the Committee’s July 

 
5 U.S. Census Bureau, U.S. Department of Commerce Secretary Wilbur Ross and U.S. Census Bureau 

Director Steven Dillingham Statement on 2020 Census Operational Adjustments Due to COVID-19 (Apr. 13, 2020) 
(online at www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2020/statement-covid-19-2020 html).  

6 Republicans Signal They’re Willing to Cut Census Counting Short, National Public Radio (July 28, 2020) 
(online at www npr.org/2020/07/28/895744449/republicans-signal-theyre-willing-to-cut-short-census-counting). 

7 U.S. Census Bureau, Statement from U.S. Census Bureau Director Steven Dillingham:  Delivering a 
Complete and Accurate 2020 Census Count (Aug. 3, 2020) (online at www.census.gov/newsroom/press-
releases/2020/delivering-complete-accurate-count.html). 

8 Letter from Chairwoman Carolyn B. Maloney, Committee on Oversight and Reform, et al., to Wilbur L. 
Ross, Jr., Secretary, Department of Commerce (July 13, 2020) (online at 
https://oversight.house.gov/sites/democrats.oversight house.gov/files/2020-07-
13.CBM%20Gomez%20Raskin%20Connolly%20Clarke%20to%20Ross-
DOC%20re%20Cogley%20and%20Korzeniewski.pdf). 
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29, 2020, hearing, you testified that this directive came without any discussions or input from 
you—despite the fact that the memorandum seeks to change a highly sensitive and apolitical task 
that the Census Bureau has historically performed.9 

The Committee is seeking interviews with Census Bureau staff to understand these 
current—and ongoing—efforts to change timelines and methodologies midstream, and what 
impact these changes will have on the accuracy, objectivity, and completeness of the Census.  
The Committee is also seeking to understand how and when these changes were proposed, as 
well as what role career Census Bureau officials played in these moves, in order to inform our 
legislative efforts on these matters.   

This is an urgent matter that requires immediate compliance.  The Trump Administration 
announced these unprecedented actions—which are projected to have a direct impact on the 
completeness and accuracy of the census count—just weeks before the end of the Census.  Our 
investigation is critical to ensuring that the 2020 Census adheres to the constitutional 
requirement to enumerate every person.  

For all of these reasons, I respectfully urge you to make these officials available to the 
Committee on a voluntary basis.  Please confirm by close of business on August 14, 2020, 
whether you will cooperate with the Committee’s investigation or whether the Committee should 
secure these officials’ appearance through compulsory measures.  

The Committee on Oversight and Reform is the principal oversight committee of the 
House of Representatives and has broad authority to investigate “any matter” at “any time” under 
House Rule X.  In addition, the Committee has jurisdiction over “Population and demography 
generally, including the Census.”10 

Sincerely,  

 
Carolyn B. Maloney 
Chairwoman 

Enclosure 

cc: The Honorable James R. Comer, Ranking Member 

9 Committee on Oversight and Reform, Hearing on Counting Every Person:  Safeguarding the 2020 
Census Against the Trump Administration’s Unconstitutional Attacks (July 29, 2020). 

10 House rule X, clause 1(n)(8). 
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To: Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov]; Christa D Jones  (CENSUS/DEPDIR 
FED)[Christa.D.Jones@census.gov]; Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED)[Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov]
Cc: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[Enrique.Lamas@census.gov]
From: John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED)[/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=CB0EEE1CC6CA45CC948C0077899626C2-ABOWD, JOHN]
Sent: Tue 9/1/2020 8:49:07 PM (UTC)
Subject: Fw: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
20190911 citizenship memos.docx

What I said. Read bottom up.

John M. Abowd, PhD, Associate Director and Chief Scientist
Research and Methodology
U.S. Census Bureau
O: 301-763-5880 M: simulring on cell 

census.gov  | @uscensusbureau
Shape your future. START HERE  2020census gov

From: John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED) <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 12:16 PM
To: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) 
<kathleen.m.styles@census.gov>
Cc: James Whitehorne (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <James.Whitehorne@census.gov>; James B Treat (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<James.B.Treat@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
 
I went over my records. A team that I led gave the director a detailed briefing on September 11, 2019. That briefing 
presented him with the December 12, 2017  letter from the DoJ, the March 26, 2018 instruction from the Secretary, The 
full text of the PRA Information Collection Request for the 2020 Census, approved July 12, 2019, and Executive Order 
13880. Each document was highlighted in yellow with the language pertaining to statistical requests/instructions 
regarding citizenship data. There was an accompanying summary (attached to this email). We explained to the Director 
that these were our instructions, and absent additional guidance from the Director or the Secretary, we would develop 
the CVAP product subject to these instructions.

Subsequent direction came from and continues to be issued by DSEP, which owns the 2020 CVAP special tabulation as a 
product. This is unusual, but is consistent with the Deputy Director's instruction to stay completely downstream from 
2020 Census operations and data processing.

Thanks,

John M. Abowd, PhD, Associate Director and Chief Scientist
Research and Methodology
U.S. Census Bureau
O: 301-763-5880 M: simulring on cell 

census.gov  | @uscensusbureau
Shape your future. START HERE > 2020census.gov

From: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, September 1, 2020 11:56 AM
To: Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <kathleen.m.styles@census.gov>
Cc: James Whitehorne (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <James.Whitehorne@census.gov>; John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED) 
<john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; James B Treat (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <James.B.Treat@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
 
Makes sense to me too. I would want John’s assessment.  

Enrique Lamas
Senior Advisor
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Director’s Office
U.S. Census Bureau
Office: 301-763-3811

On Sep 1, 2020, at 10:28 AM, Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <kathleen.m.styles@census.gov> 
wrote:

This makes sense to me, but Enrique, John, and Jim need to review the final para in particular.

Kathleen M. Styles
Chief, Decennial Communications and Stakeholder Relationships
U.S. Bureau of the Census
Room 
(301) 763-0235 Office

 Cell

From: James Whitehorne (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <James.Whitehorne@census.gov>
Sent: Monday, August 31, 2020 1:38 PM
To: Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <kathleen.m.styles@census.gov>; John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM 
FED) <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; James 
B Treat (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <James.B.Treat@census.gov>
Subject: Fw: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
 
Hello Kathleen, Jim, John, and Enrique -
I was asked by Nathaniel for a description of how we determine the content for the P.L data.  I provided my 
answer which is at the bottom of this email string. I was asked a follow-up question and am trying to answer 
it but want to make sure that I am not misrepresenting the EO working group's or IEP group's activities. 
My planned response is just below in the indented text. Please let me know if you have any comments 
before I send this reply. Nathaniel's request was from last Wednesday so I am hoping to respond soon.
Thank you
James

Good morning Nathaniel -
The short answer is that the citizenship attribute was considered all through the development process 
for the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting file as soon as the Secretary instructed the Bureau to add the 
citizenship variable to the questionnaire. To provide some context I will explain below.

When the Secretary provided the instruction to add the citizenship question to the 2020 Census form 
in March 28, 2018, we then had to explore if states wanted to see that data as part of the P.L. 94-171 
Redistricting Data Summary file.
Due to the amount of litigation surrounding the addition of the citizenship question to the 2020 
Census, I had to request permission from DoC to discuss the possible inclusion of citizenship on the 
P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data Summary File. I met with Mike Walsh (DoC), Christa Jones (BoC), Burton 
Reist (Boc) and Chris Stanley (BoC) at DoC on 5/18/2018 to get permission to discuss citizenship. I was 
given that permission but was asked to confine my  discussions to operational issues.   In the 
subsequent discussions with the states through conferences and with the program's liaisons, we 
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addressed questions like: If the question remains on the Census would you want to see the citizenship 
data on the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data Summary File?; If you want to see it, how would you want it 
to appear? ;  If a citizenship table is added to the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data File, should it be in 
addition to or should it replace the VAP tables.  The responses we received indicated that if citizenship 
was included, it was desired in the same timeframe as the P.L. data and that it should also be 
compatible with the PL data. If it was not included but created as a special tabulation then it should 
be additively consistent so that, for example, you never have more CVAP people in a block than VAP 
people. It was also clearly stated that the CVAP table should in no way replace the VAP table. The VAP 
tables were identified as being a critical longitudinal dataset for analyzing redistricting plans 
since those tables have existed for several decades now. However, within all of these discussions, no 
one indicated that the CVAP tables should be required to be added to the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting 
Data Summary File.  (attachment: 
Draft_predecisional_Redistricting_Concerns_and_Considerations.docx)

As we worked through all of the issues and the creation of the prototype data, we were also under 
schedule constraints to complete our design so that other areas of the Bureau could begin their work 
generating the coding and systems necessary for producing and delivering the redistricting data. 
According to the baselined Integrated Master Schedule, our final design was supposed to be delivered 
to the Data Products and Dissemination Operation for distribution to POP, TAB, DRPS, DAS, and 
others by 6/7/2019. With our submission not coming until 7/10/2019 we were over a month late. 
However, we waited for the Supreme Court decision before submitting the final design to the 
Disclosure Review Board despite it making us over a month late in submitting this critical operational 
documentation.

The Executive Order and then subsequent Secretary's instructions came soon after the final design 
was approved and delivered to the other areas of the Bureau, albeit a month later than required by 
the schedule.  With something with the weight of an EO and a directive from the Secretary, the 
Census executives established the groups they needed to understand and implement the 
requirements of these instructions. This is where you would want to talk to John Abowd and Jim 
Treat.  If my memory serves me, a group to acquire the administrative records described in the 
memo, was established as well as an Internal Expert Panel (IEP) to develop a methodology for 
performing the actions requested. I believe that the IEP was already in existence working on the 
methodology to generate the CVAP should citizenship be asked on the decennial census and was re-
tasked to develop the purely administrative data based CVAP. The IEP sketch of the methodology 
required the P.L. data to have already been created so we could ensure that the CVAP has additive 
consistency with the P.L. data. Based on that proposed methodology, the other group in which I 
participated worked on a schedule that allows the CVAP to be developed within the timeframe also 
required for the P.L. data.  In those meetings we also worked to ensure the 2020 Census CVAP Special 
Tabulation would be compatible with the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data Summary File by requesting 
the use of CENRACE rather than IMPRACE so the "Some Other Race" Category is included, matching 
the P.L. categories.  This would ensure, along with the production of the data at the block level, that it 
could be used for redistricting.

I hope that helps.
Regards
James

***************************
James Whitehorne, Chief
Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office/ADDC/HQ
U.S. Census Bureau
O: 301-763-4039 | M: 
census.gov  | census.gov/rdo | @uscensusbureau
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From: Nathaniel Cogley (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <nathaniel.cogley@census.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, August 26, 2020 2:09 PM
To: James Whitehorne (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <James.Whitehorne@census.gov>
Cc: Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <kathleen.m.styles@census.gov>; Benjamin A Overholt (CENSUS/DEPDIR 
FED) <benjamin.a.overholt@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
 
Hey James,

Thanks for all of your work compiling and explaining the process and dates that unfolded.  Question:

Was there any consideration of a design change to include CVAP in the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting File 
following the release of Executive Order 13880 on July 11th, 2019?

Thanks in advance for any response.

Sincerely,
Nathaniel

Nathaniel Cogley, Ph.D.
Deputy Director for Policy
U.S. Census Bureau

From: James Whitehorne (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <James.Whitehorne@census.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, August 26, 2020 10:22 AM
To: Benjamin A Overholt (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <benjamin.a.overholt@census.gov>; Nathaniel Cogley 
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <nathaniel.cogley@census.gov>
Cc: Kathleen M Styles (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <kathleen.m.styles@census.gov>
Subject: Content process history for determining the content of the P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data file
 
Good morning Nathanial and Benjamin -

During our call the other day, I promised some background and decision points on the content for the P.L. 
94-171 Redistricting Data Summary File.  The process is both formal and informal and covers quite a bit of 
each decade. I am providing a description of the process with links or attachements of relevant documents.

The process of designing P.L. each decade starts as soon as the data from the previous decennial is 
published.  Over the subsequent three years, the Redistricting Data Office conducts an evaluation of the 
previous program and develops a broad outline of what is planned for the next decade. This evaluation 
looks at feedback from the states, requests for changes from the states, changes to the legal landscape 
around redistricting, etc.  Once that is collected and vetted, a plan for the next decennial is created and 
published after being reviewed and approved at all levels of executive leadership at the Census Bureau.  
This publication, published in December of 2014, is nicknamed "The View from the States" and for 2020 is 
officially titled "Designing P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data for the Year 2020 Census".  
https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2014/rdo/pl94-171.pdf  This evaluation 
and report has been done every decade since the program started, with the National Conference of State 
Legislatures publishing the 1980 report and the Census Bureau publishing all subsequent reports.

Using the results of this report and in preparation for producing a prototype dataset as requested by the 
states, we started with what has historically been a well received dataset as its base (Tables P1, P2, P3, P4) 
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plus the housing table that was added back in for the 2010 Census (Table H1).  In addition, we worked to 
address the request for adding the group quarters table to the P.L. file. This was requested in the lead up to 
the 2010 Census but was determined to be requested too late to add to the file and was provided a few 
months after the P.L. 94-171 data's release.  Our first attempt to add this file included the race and ethnicity 
categories typically associated with the redistricting data product.  Upon presenting this plan to the 
Disclosure Review Board (DRB) in August of 2016, and then to the Decennial Statistical Executive Policy 
group (DSEP) in July of 2017,  the proposal was modified to include only total population for the seven 
major group quarters types. (attachments: DRB_Memo_AdditionOfGQtoPL94171File.docx | 
DSEP_AdditionOfGQ_to_PL_vFinal.docx).

The next step in managing the content was to publish an FRN on November 8, 2017 explaining to the states 
and the public our proposed design. https://www2.census.gov/programs-
surveys/decennial/rdo/about/2020-census-
program/Phase3/notice RDP Phase3 ProposedContent 110817.pdf   Although the original thought at the 
time of the publication of this FRN was that we would ask a single question for race and ethnicity, we also 
indicated that the file design would revert back to that produced from the 2010 Census if the proposal for 
using a single question for race and ethnicity was not approved.

Once the comment period had closed on the design of the prototype, we announced the final prototype 
design through another FRN on May 1, 2018. https://www2.census.gov/programs-
surveys/decennial/rdo/about/2020-census-
program/Phase3/notice RDP Phase3 FinalProtoype 05 01 2018.pdf    This final design reverted back to 
the 2010 design since an approval from OMB was never received for going to a single race and ethnicity 
question.  This announced final design was used to create the prototype P.L. 94-171 Redistricting data 
Summary file from the 2018 End to End Census Test in Providence RI . 

The prototype dataset was delivered to all Governors, the Supreme Court Justice of Puerto Rico, the 
legislative leadership of both parties in all state legislatures (including the District of Columbia and Puerto 
Rico), the official Redistricting Data Program non-partisan liaisons, as well as to the general public.  The 
geography was delivered in February of 2019 and the tabulations were provided in March of 2019. The 
prototype products serve as the example from which states can build their redistricting systems as 
requested in The View from the States. As part of the official delivery, feedback on the content of the file 
was requested. 

•  Tabulation products (https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial/rdo/technical-
documentation/2020Census/2018Prototype PL94 171 TechDoc v2.pdf?# ; 
https://www2.census.gov/programs-
surveys/decennial/rdo/datasets/2018/2018Prototype PL94 171 SummaryFile.zip?# ; 
https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial/2020/program-management/data-product-
planning/Prototype Redistricting File--PL 94-171/?#)
•  Geography products (https://www.census.gov/geographies/mapping-files/time-series/geo/tiger-line-
file.2018.html?# ; https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/geographies/reference-
maps.2018.html?# ; https://www.census.gov/geographies/reference-files/time-series/geo/block-
assignment-files.html?# ; https://www.census.gov/geographies/reference-files/time-series/geo/name-
lookup-tables.html?# )

With the successful delivery and acceptance of the Prototype P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data by the official 
recipients and the public, the final design was presented to the Disclosure Review Board for approval on July 
2nd, 2019. (attachment: DRB Review Request Cover Sheet Form_PL94_171Data.docx)

The final 2020 Census P.L. 94-171 Redistricting Data Summary File design was approved by the DRB at their 
July 10th meeting. (attachments: 2019-07-10-DRB meeting agenda list.pdf;  DRB Minutes 2019-07-
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10_Final.pdf) Please note that the agenda has a typo in that it says July 1 but it was actually the agenda for 
July 10 as noted in the file name.

Through each of these steps and across the decade, we engaged with states through exchanges of 
information at the official State Capitol Redistricting Data Program Kickoff meetings in 2015/2016/2017, at 
conferences, and through the officially assigned non-partisan liaisons. This interaction has been used to 
both inform states of census actions and decisions and to learn from the states on their professed needs in 
regards to redistricting. 

I hope you find this information useful.
Best Regards
James

P.S. Thank you for providing the text around Section 209 and pre-identifying the pages.  It definitely made it 
easier to find the part you were referring to.  I am not a lawyer so I may miss some subtleties surrounding 
what they are indicating by this Section.  It sounds like they are adding groups that can have standing under 
the circumstances described but only for congressional redistricting. It also sounds like they are granting 
them expedited consideration by the courts which is typical of any case involving congressional redistricting. 
Looking at the timeframe of this Section's passage, it is likely referring to the adjustment debates 
surrounding the 2000 Census. In my non-lawyerly opinion, the law does not appear to put anything we are 
doing under greater scrutiny than it would already be under. Unfortunately, redistricting tends to be part of 
what is often jokingly referred to when talking to practitioners of redistricting as  "the lifetime employment 
act" for litigators. 

***************************
James Whitehorne, Chief
Redistricting & Voting Rights Data Office/ADDC/HQ
U.S. Census Bureau
O  301 763 4039 | M  
census.gov  | census.gov/rdo | @uscensusbureau
Shape your future. START HERE > 2020census.gov
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To: John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED)[john.maron.abowd@census.gov]; Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR 
FED)[Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov]
Cc: Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED)[Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov]; Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR 
FED)[Enrique.Lamas@census.gov]; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED)[Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov]; Ali Mohammad Ahmad 
(CENSUS/ADCOM FED)[ali.m.ahmad@census.gov]; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED)[Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov]; Cogley, 
Nathaniel (Federal)[NCogley@doc.gov]; Adam Michael Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED)[adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov]
From: Christopher J Stanley  (CENSUS/OCIA FED)[/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP 
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=ADA39E1C50F84DBE8E2EB98E59096E2D-STANLEY, CH]
Sent: Fri 8/14/2020 8:03:49 PM (UTC)
Subject: update - draft of next reply to Chairwoman Maloney

I talked with Sean a few minutes ago for the latest status. Attached is draft reply to the committee's latest letter. In 
summary, if reiterates the points in the last letter and offers an expanded briefing, which would be negotiated further on 
the timing and who would be needed. 

This is still an internal draft version. As soon as we have the final signed version, I will be sure to share. It should be 
finalized soon and be sent before 5pm. 

Thank you, and please let me know if you have any questions. 

From: John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED) <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 12:00 PM
To: Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov>; Brebbia, Sean (Federal) <SBrebbia@doc.gov>
Cc: Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED) <Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov>; Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov>; Ali Mohammad Ahmad 
(CENSUS/ADCOM FED) <ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED) <Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov>; Cogley, 
Nathaniel (Federal) <NCogley@doc.gov>; Adam Michael Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>; 
Christopher J Stanley (CENSUS/OCIA FED) <christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>; Cannon, Michael (Federal) <MCannon@doc.gov>
Subject: Re: Update on Transcribed Interviews- Please identify time speak to Sean Brebbia, OGC, today
 
I am talking to Sean at noon. Thanks,

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

From: Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 11:56 AM
To: Brebbia, Sean (Federal) <SBrebbia@doc.gov>
Cc: Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED) <Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov>; Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov>; John Maron Abowd 
(CENSUS/ADRM FED) <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) 
<ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED) <Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov>; Cogley, Nathaniel (Federal) 
<NCogley@doc.gov>; Adam Michael Korzeniewski (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>; Christopher J 
Stanley (CENSUS/OCIA FED) <christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>; Cannon, Michael (Federal) <MCannon@doc.gov>
Subject: Re: Update on Transcribed Interviews- Please identify time speak to Sean Brebbia, OGC, today
 
I guess I can join at 4 EDT as well. 

On Aug 11, 2020, at 8:47 AM, Brebbia, Sean (Federal) <SBrebbia@doc.gov> wrote:
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Hi everyone, I’m happy to talk broadly to the group about procedures, process, status, but I would also like meet with 
each person individually to so they have the opportunity to have an individual discussion with agency lawyers
 
From: Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED) <Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 11:41 AM
To: Lamas, Enrique <enrique.lamas@census.gov>; Fontenot, Albert E <albert.e.fontenot@census.gov>; Brebbia, Sean 
(Federal) <SBrebbia@doc.gov>
Cc: Jarmin, Ron S <ron.s.jarmin@census.gov>; Abowd, John M <john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; Ahmad, Ali M 
<ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>; Olson, Timothy P <timothy.p.olson@census.gov>; Cogley, Nathaniel (Federal) 
<NCogley@doc.gov>; Korzeniewski, Adam M <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>; Stanley, Christopher J 
<christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Update on Transcribed Interviews- Please identify time speak to Sean Brebbia, OGC, today
 
Ali
 
Does Sean want to talk to all of us together? If so I can also make 4.
 
Thanks
 
Tori
 
Victoria Velkoff, PhD
Associate Director for Demographic Programs
U S  Census Bureau
o: 301-763-1372
Shape your future. START HERE >2020census.gov
census.gov  |  @uscensusbureau
 
 
 
 

From: Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 11:27 AM
To: Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov>; Brebbia, Sean (Federal) 
<sbrebbia@doc.gov
Cc: Ron S Jarmin (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <Ron.S.Jarmin@census.gov>; John Maron Abowd (CENSUS/ADRM FED) 
<john.maron.abowd@census.gov>; Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) <ali.m.ahmad@census.gov>; 
Victoria Velkoff (CENSUS/ADDP FED) <Victoria.A.Velkoff@census.gov>; Timothy P Olson (CENSUS/ADFO FED) 
<Timothy.P.Olson@census.gov>; Cogley, Nathaniel (Federal) <NCogley@doc.gov>; Adam Michael Korzeniewski 
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov ; Christopher J Stanley (CENSUS/OCIA FED) 
<christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Update on Transcribed Interviews- Please identify time speak to Sean Brebbia, OGC, today
 
4:00 works for me too.
 
Enrique Lamas
Senior Advisor
Director's Office
U.S. Census Bureau
Office:  301-763-3811
 

From: Albert E Fontenot (CENSUS/ADDC FED) <Albert.E.Fontenot@census.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, August 11, 2020 10:57 AM
To: Brebbia, Sean (Federal) <sbrebbia@doc.gov>
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
(CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) <adam.m.korzeniewski@census.gov>; Enrique Lamas (CENSUS/DEPDIR FED) 
<Enrique.Lamas@census.gov>; Christopher J Stanley (CENSUS/OCIA FED) <christopher.j.stanley@census.gov>
Subject: Re: Update on Transcribed Interviews- Please identify time speak to Sean Brebbia, OGC, today
 
Hello - Sean
 
Can I talk at 4:00pm?

Al
 
Albert E. Fontenot Jr.
Associate Director,  Decennial Census Programs
United States Department of Commerce
Bureau of the Census
Office 
Office 301-763-4668
Cell 
 
 
Sent from my iPhone

On Aug 11, 2020, at 10:43 AM, Ali Mohammad Ahmad (CENSUS/ADCOM FED) 
<ali.m.ahmad@census.gov> wrote:

Good Morning All-
 
Sean Brebbia (copied) with the Office of General Counsel would like to talk to each of your 
individually today about the recent request from the Oversight Committee to schedule 
transcribed interviews. Can you send him your preferred times? He will discuss the process, 
being represented by agency counsel, and the likely path forward.
 

 
Ali Ahmad, Associate Director  
Communications Directorate
U.S. Census Bureau
O: 301-763-8789| M: 
Ali.M.Ahmad@census.gov 
census.gov  |  @uscensusbureau
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